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Preface

The Bowery isn’t what it used to be. And in fact, it never was. New York City’s oldest thoroughfare, the Bowery has both reflected and shaped the ever-changing city it helped give birth to. Throughout its long, lively, and sometimes tragic history, the Bowery has hosted an endless parade of farmers, drovers, soldiers, coppers, gangsters, statesmen, showmen, magicians, poets, writers, artists, and unfortunates. Fur traders gave way to farmers, whose farms in turn gave way to taverns, tanneries, saloons, circuses, dime museums, tattoo parlors, speakeasies, flophouses, brothels, and religious missions. The Bowery’s cavalcade continues today as this long-avoided boulevard experiences a dramatic rebirth. Well-dressed visitors now head to the Bowery, not as a place to go slumming, but as a world-class destination for contemporary art and music.

It’s been an astonishing four-hundred-year-long story that I would like to share with you. A lifelong New Yorker, I’ve long been fascinated with the city’s lesser-known nooks and byways, the small places that often contain a larger history. Venturing down the Bowery just as it was reemerging into the daylight in the 1990s, I wondered what tales its old buildings could tell me, and found there are many such tales to tell. Come with me as we take a walk through time as we stroll down the once infamous Bowery.

[image: images]


1  The Great Bouwerie

LIKE MANY LATER VISITORS TO New York, the first European settlers made their way to the Bowery. Coming from the Netherlands, they sought not thrills, but furs and farms. It wasn’t yet called the Bowery back then, but it was already an old thoroughfare. From the Harlem River crossing at the far northern end of the island, a Native American trail ran down the east side of Manhattan to an area just south of a large pond. From there a short trail led to a village on Werpoe Hill on the west side of the pond. Another trail branched east to the small village of Nechtanc where Corlear’s Hook jutted into the bend of the East River, while the main trail continued on to the canoe landing at the far southern tip of the island, where Castle Clinton stands today.

Running the length of the island, the trail connected different groups of the Lenni Lenape, or Delaware nation. The Canarsee (or Werpoes) occupied the southern part of the island, while the Rechgawawank occupied the north end, and the trail that was to become the Bowery served then, as it would later, as a connection and meeting ground among different groups. Apart from linking the bands living on the island, the trail served trading parties from the mainland to the north and east, and a branch led to Sapokanikan on the island’s western shore, where Indians from west of the river would paddle over to trade deer and elk meat for tobacco at a place that would become the Meatpacking District.

The Bowery’s reputation as a place of sharp dealings may well have begun with Peter Minuit’s legendary twenty-four-dollar land deal. Minuit, the director of the New Netherland colony, is credited with swapping sixty Dutch guilders’ worth of European goods for the whole of Manhattan island. However, the precise location and circumstances of this transaction are uncertain. Whether it happened at Shorakapkok near present-day Spuyten Duyvil, or if, as was more likely, it took place at Werpoe Hill by the Collect Pond, the fact was that no single group possessed the entire island. The Canarsee people at Werpoe Hill had rights only to the southern end of the island; the rest was occupied by other Lenape groups, not least of which were the Rechgawawank on the northern end, who would sell their territory only in pieces. The last of the Rechgawawank wouldn’t leave Manhattan until 1715, over ninety years after Peter Minuit’s legendary “purchase” of the island.

Like the thousands of commuters who today follow old Indian routes to the island, the Dutch came to Manhattan for business. The southern tip of the island faced one of the finest harbors in North America, from which ships could sail across the Atlantic to markets in Europe or outfit privateers for a bash at the Spanish Main. Manhattan moreover lay alongside the great waterway that the Dutch knew as the North (later Hudson) River, which, like the trail, pointed north toward the sources of beaver furs. Dutch fur traders had been on Manhattan for over ten years before the West India Company planted a permanent settlement there in 1624. New Amsterdam served as a trading post and overseas shipping point for furs sent down from Fort Orange, site of present-day Albany. With the Eurasian beaver long hunted out, American beaver furs were a valuable commodity, prized for making felt for the big wide-brimmed hats that in those days defined gentlemen of fashion.

The Dutch West India Company was sure that New Amsterdam would prove to be a gold mine, but it needed a stable foundation, and that meant settlers who could create an agricultural base to provide a reliable food supply. The Dutch accordingly laid out six farms, or bouweries in Dutch, along the trail north of New Amsterdam—five small farms plus the “Great Bouwerie,” which will figure in the story later. These six bouweries were named after their owners: Blyevelt, Schout, Wolfert, Van Corlear, Leendert, and Pannepacker.

The Indian trail linked the farms together so it became known as the Bouwerie Lane. Almost immediately, however, the process began of chopping the Bowery down from its original thirteen-mile length to its current stretch of only two miles. The Dutch gave the southern end of the trail the grandiose name of Heere Straat (Broadway), which ran up to present-day Ann Street. There the trail became the Heere Wegh (Highway) following the line of today’s Park Row, becoming Bouwerie Lane only once it was past today’s Chatham Square.

Foreshadowing its history, the trail became the scene of New York’s first mugging shortly after the establishment of New Amsterdam. A Lenape came down the trail with his young nephew, bearing a load of furs for trade to the Dutch. As the pair approached the pond, they were jumped by three men who murdered the Lenape and made off with the furs. Not wanting to deal further with the Europeans, the boy didn’t try to report the murder but simply made his way back home, determined to someday settle accounts.

New Amsterdam grew into a small town and soon began to take on many of the characteristics of its mega-city successor. The Netherlands did not have a large surplus population to export to its colony, so the West India Company offered generous terms to recruit potential settlers from other parts of Europe. Those who accepted the offer, many of them French-speaking Walloons from today’s Belgium, received free transportation to New Amsterdam, plus a house, barn, and tools. The company also loaned each settler a starter kit of livestock including four each of horses, cows, sheep, and pigs. As time went on, more generous land grants would be made to individuals who would recruit and outfit their own settlers to live on the land as rent-paying tenants. Among them was Jonas Bronck, who would establish in 1639 his estate in what became his namesake borough, the Bronx.

Recruiting settlers from among various refugee groups in Holland made New Amsterdam the cosmopolitan city New York remains today. In 1643, the Jesuit Father Isaac Jogues, escaping from captivity and torture among the Mohawks, passed through New Amsterdam. The Catholic priest was warmly received by the Dutch Calvinist Director Kieft, who, like many a later New Yorker, insisted on giving the out-of-towner a grand tour. Jogues found New Amsterdam to be a place where no less than eighteen languages were spoken and where several Protestant denominations practiced, even though Dutch Calvinism was the official religion of the colony.

But amid its cultural diversity, New Amsterdam experienced ethnic conflict. Dutch and English interests clashed in Connecticut, where rival settlers from New Netherlands and New England staked out conflicting claims. By 1640, English settlers from Connecticut were moving into Long Island, changing the ethnic composition of such towns as Flushing and establishing their own settlements in Hempstead and Gravesend. The old cliché “there goes the neighborhood” may well have first been muttered in Dutch regarding incoming Anglo-Saxons.

Still, New Amsterdam continued on its easygoing way, sometimes to the consternation of its ministers, called dominies. People taking Sunday off for secular pleasures especially annoyed them; the Reverend Johannes Backerus complained in his reports back home that the colonists were “very ignorant in true religion, and very much given to drink.” Backerus’s own predecessor Everadus Bogardus was himself known to imbibe a bit of “Dutch courage” before mounting the pulpit to deliver boozy diatribes attacking the sixth director of the colony, Willem Kieft. For his part, Kieft would post a drummer outside the church door to drown out the dominie. The congregation learned little true religion, but it was great entertainment.

With its diverse, rowdy, and hard-drinking population, New Amsterdam saw a lot of conflict, some of which was settled in court. Suits often involved the depredations of unfenced animals and verbal abuse between neighbors, while merchants and storekeepers complained against street peddlers, a contention that remains as heated at the beginning of the twenty-first century as it was in the seventeenth.

Other pleasures were avidly pursued. Nocturnal liaisons took place at a watercourse nicknamed “Hoerenkill” (Whore Creek) outside the town limits. The precise location of this colonial landmark is uncertain, but it might have been the brook called the Versch Water Killetje (Little Fresh Water; later Old Wreck Brook) that flowed out of the Collect Pond, crossing the Bowery where the Kissing Bridge was later located. If so, it was a portent of the Bowery’s future.

Amid the good times, though, resentments festered among the Native Americans. By the 1640s, tensions between Europeans and Native Americans were growing in New Netherlands, partly because of the sharp dealings the Indians received from the Swannekins (Salty People), as they called the Dutch. Resentments were brought to a head by Director Kieft’s arrogant demand that the Native Americans still resident on Manhattan pay taxes to the Dutch.

Meanwhile, the Native American boy who saw his uncle killed in 1626 for furs had grown to manhood bearing an obligation to avenge the death. In 1641 he decided the time had come for retribution, and the warrior came down the old trail and went to the isolated cabin of Claes Smits by Turtle Bay. He killed Smits and went home again, satisfied that the blood debt occasioned by the European murder of his uncle was satisfied in the time-honored way by the murder of another European.

To Director Kieft it was a wanton homicide, with an alleged twenty-year-old crime serving as a flimsy excuse, and he demanded that the natives surrender the murderer. The natives explained that this was merely the traditional expiation of a crime and felt no obligation to cooperate with Dutch justice.

Unable to obtain satisfaction from the native Lenape, the Smits murder became a pretext for Kieft’s War, which began with massacres of Native Americans on Corlear’s Hook and Pavonia (present-day Jersey City) in 1643. The conflict lasted until 1645 and did not go well for the Dutch, rolling back the frontier of New Netherlands down the Bowery right up to the streets of New Amsterdam. As the isolated farmhouses on Manhattan were one by one set ablaze, Kieft tried to pass the buck and place the blame on his officers, one of whom tried to assassinate him. The Bouwerie Lane reverted to being a route for Native American war parties, and it was simply too dangerous for farmers to bed down beyond New Amsterdam’s wooden palisades. The war eventually sputtered out in mutual exhaustion, but the West India Company had nearly lost New Netherlands. It was decided that Kieft would have to go and a more effective administrator put in his place.

Into this war-ravaged colony Peter Stuyvesant came on May 11, 1647, like an avenging high school principal. Still in his late thirties, Stuyvesant had forged an interesting career with the West India Company, working his way up from clerk after his premature departure from university. His trademark wooden leg that stumped down the gangplank that May day was a souvenir of his brief term as director of the Dutch colony on Curacao, where he led an expedition to capture the island of St. Martin back from the Spanish, who had themselves captured it from the Dutch a few years before. A cannonball shot from the Spanish fort mangled his leg, and he was forced to abandon the expedition, characteristically blaming the debacle on the “unwilling dogs” that it was his misfortune to command. As Kieft’s War sputtered to a close, Peter recuperated from his amputation in Holland, where he married Judith Bayard and sought reassignment with the company.

Stuyvesant found New Amsterdam run-down and demoralized, and he set about restoring discipline with an energy that made him the first of Manhattan’s “reform mayors.” He proclaimed the town’s first Sunday “blue law,” ordering the taverns closed on the Sabbath and at 9:00 p.m. on weeknights, an issue that would still reverberate on the Bowery 250 years later. He enacted stiff penalties for anyone drawing a knife in an argument and stiffer penalties for anyone using one. He laid down laws on building standards, the fencing in of animals, and fire control, and slapped an excise tax on imported wine and liquor. He topped all this off with the town’s first traffic ordinance, which forced wagon drivers to lead their horses by hand through the streets of New Amsterdam, except along Broadway.

The strong-willed Stuyvesant was unapologetic about his autocratic rule; anyone who had survived having a leg sawed off without anesthesia was unlikely to be frightened by protesting burghers. He once told objecting New Amsterdamers that he intended to go on issuing whatever orders he saw fit, “especially those which tend to the glory of God, the best interest of the inhabitants, or will prevent more sins, scandals, debaucheries, and crimes.”

New Amsterdam’s residents continued to produce scandals and debaucheries, but Stuyvesant’s rule did make New Amsterdam look like a civilized place again. Four years after his arrival the director-general decided to settle down there for good. He built “White Hall” (at the foot of today’s Whitehall Street) as his official residence, but he desired a quiet place where he could reside well away from the contentions of New Amsterdam. He therefore called in his connections in the West India Company and arranged to purchase the Great Bouwerie. Previously leased by Director General Wooter van Twiller, the Great Bouwerie was the largest of the bouweries laid out by the company along the old trail, running from about the present-day 5th Street to about 17th Street, lying between the Bowery and the East River. Much of the Great Bouwerie was salt marsh, but this didn’t bother Stuyvesant, who was now the landlord of several tenant families and could set about building a manor house suitable to his dignity and status.

It took another Indian war to fix Peter Stuyvesant’s stamp on the Bowery. The still adventurous and aggressive Stuyvesant had just launched an expedition to take over the Swedish colony on Delaware Bay when trouble erupted over some stolen peaches.

A war party from up the Hudson was passing through Manhattan en route to attacking some Long Island tribes when one of their women helped herself to a few of the ripe peaches in an orchard belonging to Hendrick van Dyck. Van Dyck shot and killed the woman before he realized that he was facing an angry war party, and he quickly fled for his life. To the Native Americans, European notions of property ownership were bizarre enough, but to shoot someone over a handful of peaches was just too much. The war party quickly changed its objective and swept down on the Dutch in Manhattan instead of the Indians of Long Island. They stormed their way into New Amsterdam demanding the surrender of van Dyck only to become inebriated with a timely gift of gin and then hustled out by the Dutch garrison. That did not end the affair, however, and destructive raids on isolated farms began to blaze throughout New Netherlands, once again threatening to turn the Bouwerie Lane back into an Indian trail. A number of settlers along the Bouwerie were taken captive, among them the daughter of Wolfert Webber, the Bowery’s first tavern keeper.

Stuyvesant’s wife Judith was as strong willed as her husband. She remained at her Bouwerie mansion, fortifying the place as best she could and hiring ten Frenchmen to defend it. Peter returned in haste from his triumph at New Sweden and managed to negotiate a peace with the belligerents. Not willing to take further chances with New Netherlands’ security, he ordered that henceforth groups of at least ten families would be assembled to form a village before any new farms would be authorized. The first of these villages would be formed on Stuyvesant’s own Great Bouwerie.

Stuyvesant Village joined a village of free Africans down the Bowery in the vicinity of Werpoe Hill. Among them was Emanuel de Groot, who had earned his notoriety in an interesting way. Known as “the Giant,” de Groot arrived in New Amsterdam as an enslaved African. In 1641, he was one of seven slaves involved in a brawl in which Jan Primero, another slave, was stabbed to death. Exactly who stabbed Primero could not be established, so the seven slaves were all equally convicted of the crime. But as the magistrates were unwilling to waste company property, lots were drawn for just one of the seven to be hanged for the crime, and the lot fell to de Groot.

Seeing the size of the man, the hangman didn’t want to take any chances with “the Giant,” so he took the unusual step of tying two ropes, with two separate nooses, around de Groot’s neck. In spite of all these precautions, de Groot survived the hanging when both ropes broke and dropped him, still alive, to the ground. The assembled crowd, seeing God’s providence in this strange event, clamored for de Groot’s pardon, and he was spared further attempts at execution.

This miraculous escape from death enhanced de Groot’s standing as a community leader, and in 1644 he found himself in charge of a small band of middle-aged and elderly slaves freed by order of Director Kieft and left to settle where they could beyond the town boundary. They were free, but their children were to remain enslaved, an arrangement that benefitted the bottom line of the Dutch West India Company, which thereby rid itself of responsibility for taking care of the aging slaves while retaining the services of their offspring.

With their children still enslaved, and the Indian war still raging, the little band decided to stay close to town. They moved onto the lands of the old Native American village along Werpoe Hill, thus creating Manhattan’s first African neighborhood just across the pond from the Bowery. Although de Groot’s little village would eventually disperse, a significant African presence along the lower Bowery would persist into the early 1800s.

Eleven years later, at the close of the 1655 war, Stuyvesant’s Bouwerie Village began to take shape northeast of Werpoe Hill. Stuyvesant’s authoritarian nature liked his tenants neatly assembled into a compact settlement, and as things quieted down after the end of the Peach War he set about turning the place into a functioning village. Apart from providing security, the village would be a pleasing complement to his country seat, where at last he could rule in peace, a good hour’s walk away from the rowdy natives of New Amsterdam.

Religion ranked high on the list of Stuyvesant’s priorities, and he built a stone chapel to join his manor house as the centerpiece of his Bouwerie Village, bringing in a dominie every Sunday to conduct Dutch Reformed services. Keeping his distance from New Amsterdam and its ever-contentious burghers, Stuyvesant paid the expenses for a minister to commute from Breuckelen (Brooklyn) instead, and provided an escort of soldiers to conduct him safely from his landing on the East River. All this cost Stuyvesant the pretty sum of 250 guilders a year, but it saved him the trouble of attending services in New Amsterdam, whose own church building never seemed to get finished.

Stuyvesant’s chapel, later rebuilt into the church of Old St. Mark’s in-the-Bouwerie, was the beginning of what today is the oldest currently used site of worship in New York. This distinction is both a memorial to Stuyvesant’s rule and to his hard-line religious policy. Despite the Dutch traditions of granting tolerant refuge to various refugee groups, the Calvinist Dutch Reformed Church was from the beginning planned to be the only established denomination in the colony. In the early years of New Amsterdam this did not pose a problem, for apart from the ever-uncompleted edifice of the Dutch Reformed Church, none of the other denominations had succeeded in erecting a church building of their own. And that was the way Stuyvesant intended to keep it. He would have liked to have banned all competing denominations outright, but that was impractical even for him. So instead he issued a decree in 1656 stating that other Protestant denominations were free to worship as they pleased, but only within private homes. Dutch Reformed churches would be the only religious buildings permitted in New Amsterdam, and Stuyvesant’s chapel would stand as an enduring sign of his devotion.

Along with the chapel, Stuyvesant provided other amenities of village life, namely a blacksmith shop and an inn. He set the streets of Stuyvesant Village to follow an orderly gridiron pattern, in contrast to the anarchic sprawl of New Amsterdam, with the streets named for himself and members of his family. His intentions would be honored as Stuyvesant Village grew. Running due north-south, Judith, Elias, and Margaret Streets would eventually be crossed at right angles by Gerard, Governor, Peter, Stuyvesant, and Nicholas William Streets. His chapel and mansion lay on Stuyvesant Street. As all these streets lay at a 45-degree angle to the streets that would be decreed in 1811, all but one would be eventually obliterated. Today Stuyvesant Street, angling off from Third Avenue, remains as only trace of Stuyvesant’s Bouwerie Village.

Peter Stuyvesant’s unflinching commitment to his church would spark further controversies in his later years as director-general. The graveyard of Shearith Israel on today’s St. James Place (formerly the New Bowery) is a monument to one of these controversies. The colony’s first Jewish congregation arrived in September 1654, in the persons of twenty-three refugees. Descendants of Sephardic Jews who had fled Iberia generations before, they had been living as colonists in Pernambuco, the capital of Dutch Brazil. In 1654, the Portuguese captured Pernambuco, and the Sephardim had to flee again. They sailed for Holland only to fall prey to a Spanish pirate ship, which then set sail for Spain, Portugal’s fellow land of the Inquisition. The Spanish ship, though, was overtaken by a French privateer, whose captain offered to convey the refugees to New Amsterdam—at a stiff price. To raise the money, they had to sell off all their goods when they arrived in New Amsterdam, and the group found themselves in the new colony with little more than the clothes on their backs.

Stuyvesant was not pleased with their arrival. Though unable to dislodge dissident Protestants, he was determined to at least prevent the Jews from settling in his colony. To this end he wrote the Amsterdam Chamber (the governing body of the West India Company) seeking permission to expel the refugees, in order that they “be not allowed further to infect and trouble the new colony.” The West India Company flatly rejected Stuyvesant’s request in view of “the considerable loss sustained by this nation [the Sephardim], with others, in the taking of Brazil, as also because of the large amount of capital which they have invested in the shares of this company.”

Thwarted, Stuyvesant nevertheless continued to throw obstacles in the path of this community, even refusing their request to establish a cemetery on the ground that nobody of their community had yet died. But when someone did die a year later, Stuyvesant reluctantly granted them permission to set up a cemetery. The precise location of this first cemetery is not known, but in 1683 the burials were removed to a new site east of the Collect Pond. In the mid–nineteenth century, the Bowery was extended south from Chatham Square, cutting through a corner of the burial ground. The burial ground, minus the sliced-off corner, remains, maintained by the congregation known today as Shearith Israel.

Frustrated in his attempts to expel the Jews, Stuyvesant turned his fury on the Society of Friends, the so-called Quakers, whose wandering preachers began to drift in from the English colonies. Unlike the Sephardim, the Quakers had no influential community back in old Amsterdam who could speak up for them to the Dutch West India Company, but they did have a community in nearby Flushing. Harsh punishments, such as public floggings, inflicted on the Friends who arrived in New Amsterdam provoked the disgust of many in New Amsterdam, including Stuyvesant’s own sister, Annake. Eventually Stuyvesant’s order forbidding all residents of New Amsterdam to even allow Quakers into their homes prompted the Flushing Remonstrance in December 1657, wherein the director-general was reminded that the original 1645 patent for the town of Flushing guaranteed “liberty of conscience” to all residents. A century after Stuyvesant’s death, the Friends quietly established their own cemetery on the Bowery, at the corner of Houston Street, and built a meeting house a stone’s throw west of the Bowery at Elizabeth and Hester Streets.

Peter Stuyvesant’s last rage came in 1664 when an English fleet sailed into the harbor and demanded the surrender of New Netherlands. The wooden-legged warlord was naturally inclined to fight it out, and he stumped up to the ramparts of a decayed Fort Amsterdam. Staring in defiance at the English fleet, he laid his hand on a linstock to fire the first shot before he was persuaded to back down. In a stormy meeting later that day he learned that his belligerence had no support among the residents of New Amsterdam, who were only too aware of how quickly the English warships could blow the town into splinters. The final straw came with the presentation of a petition signed by ninety-three leading citizens, among them Stuyvesant’s own son Balthazar. On September 8, 1664, he met with the English officers in his Bouwerie mansion to accept the terms of surrender.

By now Stuyvesant was too attached to his bouwerie to abandon it, and after returning to Amsterdam to defend his role in the affair, he petitioned the English King Charles II for permission to return to the place now named New-York. Charles obliged, and Stuyvesant spent several years in quiet retirement on his bouwerie. Some years before, he had planted there a pear tree from Holland, saying that he wanted to leave something behind to be remembered by. Stuyvesant of all people needn’t have worried about being remembered, but the tree flourished and became a landmark, living to 1867 at the corner of Third Avenue and 13th Street. Its memory may still be found today on the apartment building at the northwest corner of 13th and Third, where a brass plaque labels the building PEAR TREE PLACE. Peter Stuyvesant died on his bouwerie in February 1672, and was buried in the family vault by the side of his chapel. His widow Judith remained, as did the rest of the family, which would form an important part of old New York society. But New York had not heard the last from Peter Stuyvesant.


2  Taverns and Tea Water

THE TEA WATER SPRING HAD everything to do with how the Bowery would later develop. Though eventually some 250 wells would be dug, sweet water was a rarity in lower Manhattan, and one of its two good springs was located by the Bowery on Chatham Square. This was the famous Tea Water Spring that flowed into the Collect Pond. (The other spring was just west of the Bowery where it inspired the name of Spring Street.) While bottled “designer water” became fashionable in the 1980s, in early New York it was more a necessity than a luxury. Wells often yielded water so brackish it was said that even the horses refused to drink it, and water for cooking was bought from traveling peddlers who filled barrel wagons at the Tea Water Spring and made their way around town selling the water. Water good enough for tea was good for making other beverages as well, and the first known tavern by the Tea Water Spring was Wolfert Webber’s, beginning sometime before 1664.

If the location of the Tea Water Spring was a bit inconvenient—it was still about three-quarters of a mile beyond the town limits in the 1660s—it was a copiously flowing spring, yielding nearly fifteen thousand gallons a day, providing enough water for everyone. The spring fed into the sizeable pond that the Dutch had several names for, most common being Der Kolck (Rippling Water) or the Kalch-hook, or Lime Shell Point, because of the large clam and oyster shell middens the Indians had banked up along the shores of the pond. Later, these names would be corrupted into Collect Pond. Its outline shifted over the course of time, but the Collect Pond generally lay in the low area between today’s Canal Street and Worth Streets. Excess water flowed out of the pond through two streams. One, the Old Wreck Brook, made its way to the East River through the marshy areas of Beekman’s Swamp, an area still called the Swamp in the 1890s, long after it had been built up and paved over. The other, the Old Kill, ran down the line of Canal Street past Lispenard’s Meadow into the Hudson. Tidal surges sometimes came up the Old Wreck Brook and brought salt water into the Collect Pond, making the Tea Water Spring early New York’s best source of fresh water.

The crossing of the trails and the presence of the Tea Water Spring made the lower end of the Bowery a natural place both for Native American clambakes and European revelry. Beer brewing demands clear water as much as tea does, and the spring gave Wolfert Webber all he needed. The location of his tavern on the Bouwerie Lane meant that all traffic into and out of New Amsterdam by land would have to pass his way, and travelers were invariably in need of a drink and a rest after a hard journey, or else they wanted “one for the road” as they set out on one. For those not traveling, Webber’s place was located safely outside the town palisades and the patrols of the town’s watchmen.

It was inevitable that as the town grew there would be competition for Webber. Shortly after the English takeover in 1664, one Richard Sackett established a tavern a bit east of Webber’s near the future line of Cherry Street (the cherry orchards that Sackett planted gave the name to the street). Beginning New York’s enduring tradition of ethnic bars, Sackett catered to the growing English population, who preferred mulled cider and dark ale to Webber’s Dutch gin and beer. Another Englishman, Thomas Hall, was already in the area, having bought a tract of land around Bowery and Doyers Street in 1652. Finding himself pestered by thirsty travelers seeking ale and confusing his place with Webber’s, Hall did the logical thing and turned his house into a tavern in 1660. It wasn’t long after the English takeover that he was doing the next logical thing, at least for a New York publican: he went on record complaining about the high excise taxes on beer.

The Bowery’s development accelerated in 1669, when the new English governor Francis Lovelace convened a meeting up in Harlem to consider turning the old trail into a regular wagon road. A wagon road connecting the fledgling village of Harlem with the city of New York would be “very necessary to the mutual commerce with one another.”

This was good news for Peter Stuyvesant’s Bouwerie Village, for the mutual commerce would naturally run past it. When the road opened, Bouwerie Village found itself at the spot where the Bouwerie Lane jogged west a bit to join the northward Bloomingdale Road. The Bouwerie and the Bloomingdale Road ran together for about a quarter of a mile before the wagon road swung east again following the line of the old Indian trail, soon to become part of the Post Road to Boston.

By the 1670s, Bouwerie Village had grown into a small but substantial community. Formed at first of Dutch settlers, after 1664 the village hosted a settlement of French-speaking Huguenots. Leaving their Dutch neighbors to worship at Stuyvesant’s chapel, each Sunday the Huguenots would make their way down the Bowery to the “French Church” Du Saint Espirt down on Pine Street. Often they would be joined by other Huguenots visiting from the New Rochelle area. After the services the visitors would stop off at Bouwerie Village for lunch before heading homeward, adding to its reputation as a point of convivial departure.

Bouwerie Village was also the home of the one individual who, apart from Peter Stuyvesant and Emanuel de Groot, could be claimed as a founding spirit of the Bowery. A local legend in the late 1800s told of a pleasant though unfocused young Dutchman, Rip Schallyon, who idled about Bouwerie Village. Just about dinner time, he would manage to show up on someone’s doorstep on one pretext or another. Not wishing to be thought of as ungenerous, and perhaps taking some pride in the popularity of their cooking, the Dutch housewives would usually invite him to the table to join the family for dinner. Toleration, however, didn’t mean approval of Rip’s freeloading career, and the women would admonish their own children not to turn into another Rip Schallyon. In time, it was said, Rip would lend his name to the English language as the original “rapscallion.”

The establishment of the Royal Post Road between Boston and New York was the next step in the Bowery’s development. The idea came from King Charles II, who was interested in seeing that the inhabitants of Boston and those of his newly acquired colony in New York could keep in frequent communication with each other. (King George III a century later might have wished they hadn’t.) Fittingly, the mail was late on the inaugural trip to Boston. The post rider was to have left New York on New Year’s Day 1673, but was held up until January 22 awaiting delayed dispatches to come down from Albany. When he finally left, it took him until February 5 to get to Boston.

As the Bowery grew in importance, more taverns sprang up alongside. By 1680, the tavern of Cornelison van Schaick sat at “the Crossroads”—present-day Astor Place, where the Sandy Hill Road (now Astor Place) ran westward south of the Bouwerie’s intersection with the Bloomingdale Road at today’s 17th Street and Union Square West. Broadway was not yet part of the picture; it still abruptly ended at the city limits around today’s Chambers Street.

A few years later, John Clapp took over the old Bowery Village Tavern at the Crossroads and made it into an important institution. Clapp’s place was popular for people making a Sunday drive or a summer evening’s jaunt into the country. Building on his success and popularity, in 1697 Clapp published New York’s first almanac. Clapp also founded New York’s taxi industry by introducing the first hackney coach for hire in New York. Today’s yellow cab drivers ought to give their horns a honk in honor of their founding father whenever they turn down the Bowery from Astor Place.

John Clapp knew how to play the role of the good host. On every twenty-fourth of June, the feast day of St. John the Baptist, he had a special celebration at his tavern for every man by the name of John. Like St. Patrick’s Day when every New Yorker is Irish, there were suddenly a lot of men named John in town, all heading for John Clapp’s packed tavern.

Other businesses soon joined the first taverns. A “House of Entertainment” on the Bowery, perhaps an early version of the concert saloon, was mentioned by the intrepid Boston schoolmistress Sarah Kemble Knight in 1704, when she arrived on the Bowery after her seven-day stagecoach journey from Boston, a daring journey for an unaccompanied woman to make, then and for a long time thereafter.

Stagecoach journeys weren’t cheap: the standard rate was three pence per mile. It was partly to prevent arguments and price gougings and partly to regulate the rates of the Royal Mail that milestones were set up along the Bowery in 1769, shortly after Benjamin Franklin became the postmaster for the Colonies. Franklin himself was no stranger to stagecoach journeys, and he invented an odometer to regulate the settings of the milestones. Along the Bouwerie Lane, the milestones marked the distance from City Hall, then at the corner of Wall and Broad Streets. The original One Mile Stone sat just below the Tea Water Spring and the Two Mile Stone at Bouwerie Village. In 1813, when the new City Hall was opened, the milestones were shifted northward to reflect the new distances, placing the One Mile Stone at about Rivington Street and the Two Mile Stone up at the future 19th Street.

The milestones became defining points on the Bowery. The Two Mile Stone at Bouwerie Village became the traditional place where people accompanying departing friends saw them off, and the Bowery Village Tavern was a convenient spot for a farewell toast. Before long there was a tavern at the One Mile Stone for those who couldn’t make it that far. Curiously, long after the One Mile Stone was hit by a truck and removed in 1926, an echo of the One Mile House tavern was recalled by a liquor store called the One Mile House at the corner of Bowery and Rivington that continued in business until the mid-1970s. And with a nod to the place’s history, a restaurant named One Mile House recently opened around the corner one block down on Delancey Street.

As New York grew in the 1700s, the importance of the Bowery grew as well, and it soon was serving several purposes for New Yorkers. The Dutch had established its role as a place of entertainment and revelry, and the English population happily expanded upon this tradition. Breweries and distilleries took advantage of the Tea Water Spring’s never-ending source of fine water to service the growing number of taverns in New York. With sources of disease and infection still imperfectly known, Europeans of the day were reluctant to trust potable water sources, even such a source as the Tea Water pump. Drinking plain water only when forced to by extreme poverty or desperate circumstances, they found it healthier to replenish their bodily fluids with beverages using boiled water such as tea, or, making the best of life as they found it, beer.

Stout’s Tavern at East Broadway and Catherine Street joined Webber’s and Sackett’s around 1728; by the time of the Revolution, there were thirteen licensed liquor vendors lining the Bowery between the Collect Pond and Bowery Village. The licensed places were joined by any number of unlicensed places, often the homes of farmwives who would occasionally brew up a batch of ale and perhaps announce its availability by affixing the traditional “ale stake” over their doors. An ale stake jutting out over the door, usually a broom handle, was an English tradition dating from the Middle Ages; when a signboard was eventually hung from the stake, it became the origin of the familiar pub sign.

The Bull’s Head Tavern opened in the mid-1700s and became one of the Bowery’s longest-lived establishments, marking the combination of what was then the two main industries on the Bowery: beer and cattle.

By 1735, the plot that would become Chinatown on the lower end of the Bowery was known as the Plough and Harrow Tract, named for the tavern that stood there. Originally Thomas Hall’s tavern, the place later became known simply as the Farmer’s Tavern. As always, a good location ensured the continuity of business, and the Farmer’s Tavern became a favorite place for cattle drovers and people who did business with them, situated as it was on the route by which cattle were brought to the city.

The salt meadows and empty lands the Dutch found on either side of the old Indian trail were first put to use as areas where cattle and swine were let loose to graze freely. As more bouweries were established the cattle needed to be contained, and eventually cattle pens were set up on the west side of the Bouwerie Lane. The Collect Pond and the brooks flowing out of it were convenient places to water the ever-thirsty cattle, and by following the path running south and east from the Collect Pond, the cattle could be brought to the main meat market for the town, the old Vly Market at the foot of Maiden Lane.

Vly was simply Dutch for ravine, and eventually the ravine was named Smith’s Vly for the local English landowner. By the 1700s, the name of the Vly Market had been corrupted, appropriately enough for an open-air meat market, to Fly Market. It sat next to another important amenity for the meat trade: a brook of fresh water, handy not so much for cleanliness as for increasing the market weight of the steaks and chops. Maiden Lane was the path running down the Vly, named for the girls left to do the laundry in the brook within easy eyesight of their mothers who did their daily shopping at the Fly Market. (Despite the similarity of names, New York’s Fly Market had nothing to do with the term “Flea Market,” which originated centuries later in a Paris open-air used-mattress market.)

As New York grew, it became necessary to move the actual butchering of the cattle above the town, and as the Bowery was still the only road connecting Manhattan with the mainland, it was natural to place both cattle dealing and the slaughterhouses along the Bowery down which all the cattle would have to be driven.

As the eighteenth century wore on, the Bull’s Head Tavern, on the Bowery just below Canal Street, took over from Bowery Village as the unofficial capital of the Bowery. The terminus both of the cattle routes into New York as well as the stage lines serving Manhattan, the Bull’s Head—along with its next-door neighbor, the Black Horse Inn—became a popular place to do business, as well as a place to waste time while pretending to do business. The Bull’s Head became a popular political meeting house and drew many visitors for its bustle and conversation, such as the young Washington Irving, who often dropped in even though he had nothing to do with the cattle business. There he soaked up ale and tales of Peter Stuyvesant, whom he would later lampoon as “Peter Hardhead” in his Knickerbocker’s History of New York.

Cattle, though, remained the main reason for the Bull’s Head. It was surrounded by cattle pens with an abattoir adjacent. Other slaughterhouses grew up around the Bull’s Head and eventually formed a cluster lining both sides of the Bowery north of the tavern.

The area logically became a magnet for other “cattle-driven” industries such as tanneries and leather goods businesses, notably shoe and harness making. Tanneries were an exceptionally odoriferous industry, and however necessary to the economic life of a place such as New York, people naturally wanted them to be located as far outside town as possible, preferably where they would be downwind most of the time. The area around the Collect Pond suited everybody’s needs perfectly, being below the end of the cattle trail where fresh hides could be collected from the slaughterhouses, and with a pond both to supply the large amounts of water the tanneries needed as well as to dump the polluted water they produced. The tanneries in Beekman’s Swamp, as it was known, would evolve into a traditional locale for New York’s leather goods industry that would persist until the beginning of the 1900s. A cluster of retail shoe stores around West Broadway and Chambers Streets remained until recently as a ghost of “the Swamp.”

With cattle sales being done at the Bull’s Head, the butchers at the Fly Market, nearly two miles down, were dependent on whatever deals were being cut over mugs of ale at the Bull’s Head. One enterprising chap decided to deal with the problem head on. Henry Astor would leave his stall at the Fly Market and ride a horse up the Bowery past the Bull’s Head and meet the drovers as they came down the road. The tired drovers were often happy to cut a deal with Astor right then and there and avoid both the haggling and the pen charges at the Bull’s Head. This meant considerable savings to Astor, who beat out the middlemen, and enabled him to make good money by vending meat at the Fly Market at competitive prices. Canny housewives soon learned to put up with Astor’s absences from his stall and wait till he returned in hopes of getting better prices.

Astor’s busting of the Bull’s Head monopoly made him unpopular with both the middlemen and his fellow merchants at the Fly Market. They insisted on medieval norms of proper business conduct and launched several petitions to the New York Common Council, hoping to have Astor enjoined from his “pernicious practice” of “forestalling.” Astor won out in the end, and after the Revolutionary War he became the owner of the Bull’s Head. The money he made became the foundation of one of New York’s great fortunes, and in proper style he built a country mansion in 1796 on the Bowery just north of the Bull’s Head where his wife Dolly reigned supreme as the “pink of the Bowery.” His kid brother, John Jacob, would have an even greater impact on the area.

The Bull’s Head would continue on, moving north as the city grew, and leaving its stamp on the landscape in a variety of ways. In the 1820s, the Upper Bull’s Head was built on the corner of the Bowery and Broome Streets, and remains of its walls were eventually incorporated into what became the Occidental Hotel. The New Bull’s Head was opened in 1826 at the corner of 4th Street and the Bowery. By then, the cattle market had moved further up the Bowery to what would become Cooper Square, and the New Bull’s Head developed its own market for dealing in sheep, eventually creating the Tompkins Market. When the horse and cattle market shifted to the area of 23rd Street and Third Avenue later in the 1800s, the Bull’s Head followed it, establishing yet another Bull’s Head Tavern with a Bull’s Head Village growing up around it. The name remained up to the 1940s in the form of a Bull’s Head Stables and a Bull’s Head Harness Company serving the dray horse industry, which persisted in New York until after World War II.

The Bowery in the 1700s served more than the leather and animal industries. The same prevailing westerly winds that blew the odors of the tanneries away from New York (and toward Brooklyn) also drove a number of windmills along the Bowery, conveniently located to transform grain from outlying farms into flour for the city. One in particular, located just beyond the Kissing Bridge that crossed the stream where Canal Street is today, became a long-lived landmark known simply as the Old Windmill, signaling to carriage drivers that they were approaching the bridge where, if they were driving with their sweethearts, they could stop and exact a kiss from their dates. (Back then, this could really make a fellow’s day.) Another windmill near 10th Street ground imported “Peruvian Bark” to make quinine. Quinine was a big business in early New York, what with the extensive salt marshes lying within sight of the windmill and whose mosquitoes (or as people at the time believed, swamp vapors) made malaria a serious health hazard in the city.

In the early 1700s, the Bowery also grew to become New York’s main pleasure ground. The taverns drew weekend pleasure jaunters, and the crowds soon created a market for additional entertainments. The Bowery was wide and reasonably straight, making it a good place to hold races. Footraces soon became horse races. Horse-trading flourished alongside the cattle trading, and buyers naturally wanted to take their prospective purchases out for a “road test” before deciding. Before long, the Bowery was the traditional place to hold horse races, especially on Sundays when the cattle were not moving, and the Maidenhead Race Course would be set up in 1790 on the grounds behind the old Delancey Mansion just east of the Bowery.

Amid the revelry and horse races, there were some strange things to be found along the Bowery. In May 1769, a macabre burial took place where the Bowery joined with Bloomingdale Road. Stephen Porter, in the city jail accused of piracy and murder, cheated the hangman by taking his own life. The authorities, invoking old English law, directed that he be buried “in the public highway with a stake through his heart.” Following tradition, the crossroads where the Bloomingdale Road met the Bowery was selected in order that his ghost, or vampiric corpse, wouldn’t know which way to go, or, if it did make up its mind, there was at least an even chance that it would head for Harlem or Westchester.

Other burials were quietly forgotten until time and chance brought them to light again. The old African Burial Ground was located in the waste ground called Cat Hollow west of the Bowery and just north of the wooden palisade marking the colonial city limits on the line of today’s Chambers Street. Medical students at the nearby hospital at Broadway and Pearl Street felt free to raid what was then termed the “Negro Burial Ground” for dissection cadavers. It was only when rumors spread of them digging up bodies of white people from other graveyards that the “Doctors Riots” erupted against them in 1788.

When new office construction unearthed some of the graves in the African Burial Ground in the early 1990s, surprise mingled with controversy, and today a museum at 295 Broadway, along with a memorial, commemorates the site. Yet for all the attention that was focused on the burial ground in Cat Hollow, another nearby site remained forgotten. When the original African Burial Ground filled up, New York’s African community petitioned the Common Council in April 1795 for permission to set up a second burial ground. This was located further uptown a few yards east of the Bowery at the corner of Chrystie and Rivington Streets. The graves were eventually relocated to Long Island, and tenements at 195–197 Chrystie Street were built over the plot, but the curiously named Freeman Alley still runs along what was the rear of this cemetery, serving as the entrance to a marble monument company as late as the 1930s.

The earth along the foot of the Bowery also hid evidence of horrors the city preferred to purge from its memory, and which when uncovered were quickly forgotten again. As the Bowery met Chatham Street along the line of today’s Park Row, it brushed by the Common where City Hall and the Tweed Courthouse stand today. In eighteenth-century New York, the Common served many purposes, among them the site of the city’s jail as well as the public execution grounds where people were hanged, tortured, and even burned at the stake.

In the eighteenth century, New York was a leading slave city, with a per capita slave population that rivaled many of the cities and towns further south. On March 25, 1712, a brief slave revolt fueled by drinks celebrating the old-style English New Year left eight whites dead and twelve wounded. A large band of slaves fled up the Bowery to seek refuge in the hills and woods north of the city. The militia, converging from New York and Westchester, rounded up nineteen slaves the next day. Bowery resident May Bickley, then the attorney general for New York, saw to it that the worst penalties were inflicted on the rebels. In all, fourteen men were hanged, two were burned at the stake, one roasted to death over a slow fire, one broken on the wheel, and one whipped and left to starve to death in his chains.

Bickley eventually lost his job as attorney general in the reaction following these executions, and New Yorkers determinedly forgot the horrors. With the civic memory thus purged, the way was left open for an even worse hysteria that erupted in reaction to the supposed “Great Negro Plot” of 1741, which was believed to be a widespread conspiracy involving wholesale murder and arson. Through the spring and early summer of 1741, interrogations alternated with executions, as confessions were extracted and the implicated were condemned. By mid-July, thirteen African men had been burned at the stake before crowds gathered on the Common, seventeen more were hanged, their corpses left hanging to rot in the summer sun, and an additional two white men and two white women were hanged. It is said that when the foundations were being dug for the Municipal Building in 1905 the burnt remains of human beings were found still with their iron chains. It is uncertain what was done with the remains, and the discovery was quickly forgotten.
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